ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County
J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 19 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

JOEY SHAWN WEIR,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001695

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ROBERT M. PACHAK
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether plea counsel was ineffective in failing to ask that 3 counts of injury to real property be considered as 1 offense because they were so closely connected in time?

STATEMENT

On January 6, 2012, petitioner appeared before the Honorable R. Lawson McIntosh in Spartanburg County and pled guilty to petit larceny, receiving stolen goods, six (6) counts of injury to real property to obtain nonferrous metals, damage of \$2,000 - \$10,000, and one (1) count of injury to real property to obtain nonferrous metals, damages of \$10,000 or more. The court gave respective sentences of time served, five (5) years suspended to five (5) years probation, five (5) years on the multiple injury to real property charges, and ten (10) years, consecutive, on the injury to real property charge with damages of \$10,000 or more. James Cheek, Esquire, was plea counsel. Robert Mebane, Esquire and Wes Boyd, Esquire, were the assistant solicitors. (App. p. 1 – p. 38).

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on March 20, 2012. (App. p. 39 – p. 63). Respondent filed a return dated January 30, 2013. (App. p. 64 – p. 70). An evidentiary hearing was held on April 2, 2013, before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. Petitioner was present and was represented by Thomas A. Belenchia, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Suzanne H. White, Assistant Attorney General. Both petitioner and plea counsel testified at the hearing. (App. p. 71 – p. 104). On July 24, 2013, Judge Hayes issued an order denying and dismissing the application for post-conviction relief. (App. p. 107 – p. 114).

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

Plea counsel was ineffective in failing to request that 3 counts of injury to real property be considered as 1 offense because they were so closely connected in time.

In post-conviction, a petitioner may be granted relief based on ineffective assistance of counsel if he shows: (1) that trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by counsel's ineffective performance. Strickland v. Washington, 466, U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Stalk v. State, 383 S.C. 559, 681 S.E. 2d 592 (2009). With respect to a guilty plea the second prong above looks at whether defense counsel's deficient performance affected the outcome of the plea process. Stalk v. State, *supra*. This means that there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty but would have insisted on going to trial. In Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366 (1985). This usually involves counsel's giving of incorrect sentencing advice or legal advice about the charges against his client. Hinson v. State, 297 S.C. 456, 377 S.E.2d 338 (1989); Ray v. State, 303 S.C. 374, 401 S.E.2d 151 (1991); Pelzer v. State, 381 S.C. 217, 672 S.E. 2d 790 (Ct. App. 2009); Morris v. State, 371 S. C. 278, 639 S.E. 2d 53 (2006).

Besides attacking a guilty plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant may challenge the guilty plea on other constitutional grounds. The United States Supreme Court explained in Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S. Ct. 1709 (1969) that "a plea of guilty is more than admission of conduct; it is a conviction. Ignorance, incomprehension, coercion, terror, inducements, subtle or blatant threats might be a perfect cover-up of unconstitutionality." 395 U.S. at 242-243, 89 S. Ct. at 1712. As the Court in Boykin held, due process of law requires that before a guilty plea can be entered voluntarily and intelligently, a defendant must be advised of his privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, the right to trial by a jury, and the right to confront one's

accusers. A valid waiver of these rights cannot be presumed from a silent record. 395 U.S. at 243, 89 S. Ct. at 1712. In State v. Armstrong, 263 S.C. 594, 211 S.E.2d 889 (1975), the court held that the “essence” of Boykin was to make the requirements of Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure applicable to the States. In State v. Patterson, 278 S.C. 319, 295 S.E. 2d 264 (1982), the court held that for there to be a valid waiver under the due process clause of the three constitutional rights listed in Boykin, the record must clearly establish it.

In this case, petitioner pled guilty to seven (7) separate charges of malicious injury to real property to obtain metals. (App. p. 4 – p. 5). Three of the indictments for malicious injury to real property (2011-GS-42-6941, 6943, and 6942) covered crimes that occurred on the same day of July 12, 2011. They also all occurred on East Main Street in Spartanburg with respective addresses of 812, 791, and 800 East Main Street. The assistant solicitor even noted that these crimes all occurred on the same street and that the police think petitioner went down the street doing one crime after another. (App. p. 25, line 17 – p. 26, line 15). The plea court gave petitioner a five (5) year sentence on indictment 6941, a five (5) year concurrent sentence on indictment 6942, and a ten (10) year consecutive sentence on indictment 6943. (App. p. 34, line 10 – p. 35, line 3).

Plea counsel never requested that the 3 crimes be considered as 1 offense since they were so closely related in time. Neither did he object to the sentence being ordered to be served consecutively on indictment 6943. Petitioner raised this issue in his supplemental brief to his application for post-conviction relief. (App. p. 50 – p. 58). Petitioner raised this issue at the evidentiary hearing. (App. p. 78, lines 11 – 17; app. p. 79, line 20 – p. 80, line 1; app. p. 81, line 4 – p. 82, line 8; app. p. 83, lines 6 – 9).

Plea counsel testified and admitted that he did not ask for the 3 charges to be sentenced concurrently. (App. p. 94, lines 21 – 24). He said he was familiar with S.C. Code § 17-25-50,

which deals with considering closely connected offenses as one. But, he did not think the statute was appropriate in this case because there were 3 different crimes! Contrary to plea counsel's assertion, S.C. Code § 17-25-50 provides as follows:

In determining the number of offenses for the purpose of imposition of sentence, the court shall treat as one offense any number of offenses which have been committed at times so closely connected in point of time that they may be considered as one offense, notwithstanding under the law they constitute separate and distinct offenses.