STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

MAY - 7 2014

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Mark Hayes II, Circuit Court Judge

---

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Appellate Case No. 2013-001695

Joey Shawn Weir, ..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SUZANNE H. WHITE  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar #78225

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

**QUESTION PRESENTED**

Did the PCR Court properly hold that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request that three counts of injury to real property be considered as a continuous course of conduct?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. The Petitioner was indicted at the November 2011 term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for one count of petit larceny (11-GS-42-4253), and one count of malicious injury to real property, fixtures or improvements to obtain non-ferrous metals (11-GS-42-4254). The Petitioner waived presentation to the Grand Jury on the following offenses: receiving stolen goods valued between \$2000 and \$10,000 (11-GS-42-6870); malicious injury to real property, fixtures or improvements to obtain non-ferrous metals, damages more than \$2000 and less than \$10,000 (11-GS-42-6941, -42, -44, -45, -46); and injury to real property, fixtures or improvements to obtain nonferrous metals, damage of more than \$10,000 (11-GS-42-6943). He was represented by James Cheek, Esquire. On January 6, 2012, the Petitioner pled guilty to all charges as indicted. He was sentenced by the Honorable R. Lawson McIntosh to time served for petit larceny (11-GS-42-4254), a concurrent period of five (5) years, suspended to (5) years of probation for receiving stolen goods (11-GS-42-6870), a concurrent period of five (5) years for all counts of injury to real property to obtain nonferrous metals, damage of \$2,000–\$10,000 (11-GS-42-6941, -42, -44, -45, -46), (11-GS-42-4253), and a consecutive period of ten (10) years for injury to real property to obtain nonferrous metals damages of \$10,000 or more (11-GS-42-6943). The Petitioner did not appeal his guilty plea or sentence.

The Petitioner subsequently filed a PCR application on March 20, 2012. The Respondent made its Return on or about January 30, 2013. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on April 2, 2013, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse. The Petitioner was present at

the hearing and was represented by Thomas A. Belenchia, Esquire. Suzanne H. White, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the Respondent. Following the hearing, The Honorable J. Mark Hayes II denied the PCR application by written Order dated July 24, 2013.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and a Petition for Writ of Certiorari was submitted. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

**I. The PCR Court properly held that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request that three counts of injury to real property be considered as a continuous course of conduct.**

Petitioner was charged with seven counts of malicious injury to real property, to obtain metals, petit larceny, and receiving stolen goods between \$2,000 and \$10,000. (App. p. 4-5). One of the counts of malicious injury to real property, to obtain metals, included damages of more than \$10,000. (App. p. 4). Following his plea, Petitioner was sentenced to serve a total of fifteen years, with the charge involving over \$10,000 of damage providing a consecutive ten year sentence to the concurrent five year sentences received. (App. p. 33-35). A restitution order in the amount of \$58,860 was also signed. (App. p. 35). Petitioner alleges that Counsel failed to properly object to and preserve the issue for appeal of the inadmissibility of the victim’s statement identifying Petitioner as the murderer. (App. p. 283-4).

In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that “Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial

cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 80 L.Ed.2d 674. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of Counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Second, Counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Petitioner testified that three of the indictments, -6941, -6942, and -6943, resulted from crimes that occurred on the same day within a twenty-four hour time period. (App. p. 81). Petitioner testified that the crimes occurred on July 12 and occurred at three commercial buildings which were all within a quarter of a mile of each other. (App. p. 81). Petitioner was sentenced to ten years, consecutive to his other sentences, on indictment -6943. (App. p. 34-35). Petitioner testified that at the time of his plea he was unaware that the three offenses could have been considered to be one offense. (App. p. 82). When asked if he had been aware of that possibility would he have pled guilty to all three offenses, Petitioner indicated that he “would’ve ... argued the fact of be consolidated as one.” (App. p. 82, lines 7-8).

Counsel testified that he did not request that the three aforementioned indictments been considered as a continuous course of conduct because he did not think it was appropriate. (App. p. 97). Counsel noted that the crimes appeared to be three separate and distinct crimes. (App. p. 97). Counsel also testified that the charge of indictment -6943 provided for a sentence of up to ten years, as did any of the charges which were deemed third or subsequent property offenses. (App. p. 100). Counsel also testified that his understanding was that the statute regarding continuous court of conduct applied primarily to cases involving the three-strikes law, which are serious and most serious. (App. p. 101).

Petitioner was charged on each of the aforementioned indictments with violating S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-253 (B). However, because of his prior record, Petitioner was also charged with violating S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-57, which sets forth that a person convicted of a property crime must, upon conviction for a third or subsequent offense, be punished as prescribed for a Class E felony, which includes a maximum sentence of up to ten years. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-90 (E). Petitioner faced a maximum of ten years on each charge of malicious injury to property he faced because of his prior record, each of which could have been run consecutive to the others.

A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial. Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C.16, 546 S.E.2d 417 (2001); Richardson v. State, 310 S.C. 360, 426 S.E.2d 795 (1993). The Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof as to this claim.

Even if Counsel was deficient for failing to make the argument that the offenses constituted a continuous course of conduct, it is clear that the Petitioner suffered no prejudice in this matter. When the Petitioner was brought back before the plea judge for an amendment and clarification of the sentences following the plea earlier that morning, the judge stated that it was his “intention was that [Petitioner] receive five (5) years, and, then, another ten (10) years.” (App. p. 35, lines 21-22). The judge also stated that it was his “intention that [Petitioner] receive a consecutive fifteen (15) year sentence.” (App. p. 36, lines 2-3). Later, the judge stated that he wanted Petitioner to serve fifteen years, after which Petitioner would begin a period of five years of probation. (App. p. 37, lines 13-15). It is clear that because of the unequivocal statements made by the judge at the time of sentencing, even if several of the charges had been considered as a continuous course of conduct, the judge would have still sentenced Petitioner to fifteen years.

Respondent submits that the Petitioner failed to meet his required burden of proof and probative evidence exists to support the court’s denial of his post-conviction relief application.